IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO.: 2007-TS-01554

HERRING GAS COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

٧.

PINE BELT GAS, INC., LLOYD STRINGER, JASON STRINGER, STEVEN STRINGER, and JIMMY RUTLAND

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John L. Maxey II (MSB#HALL)
Heather M. Aby (MSB#HALL)
Paul H. Kimble (MSB #HALL)
MAXEY WANN PLLC
210 East Capitol Street, Suite 2125
Post Office Box 3977
Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3977
Telephone: (601) 355-8855

Facsimile: (601) 355-8881

ATTORNEYS FOR HERRING GAS COMPANY, INC.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO.: 2007-TS-01554

HERRING GAS COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

PINE BELT GAS, INC., LLOYD STRINGER, JASON STRINGER, STEVEN STRINGER, and JIMMY RUTLAND

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether Jimmy Rutland Breached a Covenant Not to Compete.
- II. Whether Herring Gas and Broome LP Gas Executed a Valid Asset Purchase Agreement.
- III. Whether a Covenant Not to Compete May be Enforced by a Purchaser.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 8, 2006, Plaintiff Herring Gas Company, Inc. (sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Herring Gas") filed suit, alleging a former employee, Jimmy L. Rutland (sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Rutland"), breached a covenant not to compete wherein Rutland agreed to refrain from selling propane gas within a seventy-five (75) mile radius of Purvis, Mississippi, and that Rutland tortiously interfered with contracts between Herring Gas and its customers. Herring Gas sought preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining Rutland from calling on or soliciting Herring Gas customers, as well as compensatory damages which arose from Rutland's breach. Herring Gas filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction, which the Court denied on December 4, 2006, after a hearing held the previous week. Pine Belt Gas, Inc., Lloyd Broom, Jason Stringer, Steven Stringer, and Rutland (sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to as "Defendants") filed a Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment on December 1, 2006, and an Order dismissing all claims was entered on August 23, 2007. Aggrieved, Herring Gas appealed to this Court on August 31, 2007.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Herring Gas is a company which is engaged in the sale of propane. Rutland was employed by Broome LP Gas, LLC (sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Broome Gas"), and entered into a contract memorializing the employment agreement on March 20, 2000. (R. at 14-6). In the contract, Rutland agreed to "not associate himself with or engage in, directly or indirectly, as an employee, owner, partner, shareholder, or in any manner, any business engaged in the business of selling propane gas and propane related equipment within a 75 mile radius of Purvis, Mississippi" for three years after the termination of his employment. (R. at 15). Rutland also agreed to not "divulge, disclose or communicate to any person, firm or corporation in any manner whatsoever any information concerning any matters affecting or relating to the business of the Employer including ... any of its customers ..." (R. at 14). As consideration for entering into this non-competition agreement, Rutland was paid \$500.00. (R. at 14). In return for the consideration paid, Rutland also agreed "for a period of five (5) years after the termination of his employment hereunder, he shall not on behalf of himself or on behalf of any other person, firm or corporation, call on any of the customers of the Employer." (R. at 15). On or about April 19, 2006. Herring Gas purchased the assets of Broome Gas, including assignment of all right, title and interest to the March 20, 2000, Employment Contract entered into by Broome Gas and Rutland. (R. at 17).

On April 24, 2006, Rutland resigned from his position with Herring Gas and went to work for Pine Belt Gas. (R. at 98). The office of Pine Belt Gas is located at 55 Pine Belt Lane in Columbia, Mississippi – well within the area proscribed by Rutland's Employment Contract. In addition, Rutland works the same area for Pine Belt Gas which he previously

serviced on behalf of Herring Gas. Jimmy Rutland has violated, and continues to violate the non-competition provision of the Employment Agreement he signed as well as the non-solicitation provisions of that Agreement for which he received separate consideration. (R. at 14-6; 149). Soon after Rutland began to work for Pine Belt Gas, approximately two hundred individuals who were previously customers of his indicated they wished to discontinue their service with Herring Gas. (R. at 103).

Gas companies spend substantial amounts in materials and man-hours inspecting and ensuring its customers' hardware comply with all applicable regulations. The customer list of Herring Gas also represents a substantial investment and asset which has been wrongfully appropriated by Rutland and his employer Pine Belt Gas. (R. at 103). Rutland was the sole representative of Herring Gas so far as many of the customers on his route were concerned. (R. at 103). Herring Gas's loss of customers was due solely to the personal relationship between Rutland and the customers serviced by him. (R. at 103).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Jimmy Rutland entered into a contract wherein he was paid \$500.00 to agree to refrain from competing with his employer and from calling on its customers. It is undisputed that Rutland has breached and continues to breach this covenant not to compete. Rutland unapologetically states that he is working for a competitor and that he routinely calls upon Herring Gas customers. He admits he began doing these things immediately after leaving employment with Herring Gas. Jimmy Rutland has breached his employment agreement.

Herring Gas has the right to enforce the covenant not to compete and the non-solicitation provision of the agreement. The assignment of Rutland's restrictive covenant was valid. Broome Gas acknowledged the assignment of the covenant not to compete. In addition, Rutland has no standing to complain there was a lack of consideration as he was neither a party to the contract nor a third party beneficiary.

A covenant not to compete should be enforceable by a subsequent purchaser of a business. A covenant not to compete is not a personal contract such that it may not be assigned. Rather than forcing the signer into involuntary servitude as in a personal services contract, it is simply an agreement to refrain from a certain behavior. Also, the majority of the values small businesses such as Broome Gas has derives from its relationships with its customers — and its right to protect those relationships. If small businesses such as Broome Gas cannot pass along covenants not to compete for which it provided valuable consideration, much of the value of those businesses will evaporate.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The Court employs a *de novo* standard of review of a lower court's grant of summary judgment. *Thomas v. Columbia Group, LLC*, 969 So.2d 849, ¶ 10 (Miss. 2007) (citation omitted). "The moving party must show that 'there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (quoting Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c)). All evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made, as it is given the benefit of every reasonable doubt. *Id.* (citation omitted).

The traditional standard of review for the grant or modification of an injunction is abuse of discretion. *Moses v. Washington Parish School Board*, 379 F.3d 319, 327 (5th Cir. 2004). However, where the grant or denial of an injunction involves a question of law, the review is *de novo*. *St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Williamson*, 332 F.3d 304, 308 (5th Cir. 2003). This Court, of course, likewise follows the rule that issues of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, 926 So.2d 890, 893 (Miss. 2006). The lower court ruled as a matter of law that a covenant not to compete is not enforceable by a subsequent purchaser. (R. at 163). Therefore, the proper standard of review regarding Herring Gas Company, Inc.'s request for an injunction is *de novo*.

Whether Jimmy Rutland Breached a Covenant Not to Compete

Rutland was employed by Broome Gas and entered into a contract memorializing the employment agreement on March 20, 2000. (R. at 14-6). Rutland was paid \$500 in consideration for his execution of the covenant not to compete. (R. at 14). It is

indisputable that Rutland breached and continues to breach the covenant not to compete with Herring Gas or to solicit its customers. Rutland agreed to "not associate himself with or engage in, directly or indirectly, as an employee, owner, partner, shareholder, or in any manner, any business engaged in the business of selling propane gas and propane related equipment within a 75 mile radius of Purvis, Mississippi" for three years after the termination of his employment. (R. at 15). Instead, immediately after voluntarily leaving his position at Herring Gas, Rutland went to work for Pine Belt Gas, Inc. (R. at 98). Rutland also agreed to not "divulge, disclose or communicate to any person, firm or corporation in any manner whatsoever any information concerning any matters affecting or relating to the business of the Employer including ... any of its customers ..." (R. at 14). Using the experience gained and contacts developed when working at Herring Gas and its predecessor in interest, Rutland is conveying information about Herring Gas' customers to his new employer. In fact, according to Rutland, one reason he services so many former Herring Gas customers is the previous system for servicing these customers. (R. at 150). The customers would call Rutland at home, and he would then go out and service them. (R. at 150). The customers would never contact the office when they needed service. Rutland did not take a physical copy of a customer list to his new employer but acknowledged he brought Herring Gas customer information to Pine Belt "in his head." (R. at 148).

Rutland also agreed "for a period of five (5) years after the termination of his employment hereunder, he shall not on behalf of himself or on behalf of any other person, firm or corporation, call on any of the customers of the Employer." (R. at 15). When asked why he worked at all at Herring Gas if he did not plan on working there long term, Rutland

responded "because I intended to carry [Herring Gas's customers] with me if I could." (R. at 149). Rutland acknowledges he intended to breach his contract by servicing customers of Herring Gas and further acknowledges that he did, in fact, do so. (R. at 150). It is indisputable that Rutland's contract provided that he could not work for a competitor for three years after leaving his employment, that he could not provide customer information to another entity, and that he could not call upon Herring Gas customers for five years. It is indisputable that he did all these things immediately after voluntarily leaving his employment with Herring Gas. It is indisputable that Jimmy L. Rutland breached the employment contract for which he received consideration.

III. Herring Gas and Broome Gas Entered into a Valid Asset Purchase Agreement

It was suggested below that because the intent of Herring Gas and Broome Gas was made clear in an addendum rather than in the original asset purchase agreement, the contract between the two is somehow invalid. While Herring Gas would suggest the original asset purchase agreement provides Herring Gas with the benefit of the covenant not to compete, such is immaterial as Broome Gas specifically conveyed to Herring Gas "all right, title, and interest in the agreement between Jimmy L. Rutland and Broome LP Gas ..." on May 12, 2006. (R. at 17). By its very nature, an addendum is executed after the original contract. An addendum creates an additional enforceable clause of a contract. See *Patriot Commercial Leasing Co. v. Jerry Enis Motors, Inc.*, 982 So.2d 856 (Miss. 2006); *Patel v. Telerent Leasing Corp.*, 574 So.2d 3 (Miss. 1990); *Delta Construction Co. of Jackson v. City of Jackson*, 198 So.2d 592 (Miss. 1967). The fact that the parties to the contract clarified their intent in an addendum has no impact on its enforceability. As a general rule, contracts are freely assignable, and the May 12, 2006, assignation was an

effective transfer of the rights under the employment agreement. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 317.

"Under basic contract rules, there must be an offer and acceptance, and consideration." *Infinity Insurance Company v. Patel*, 737 So.2d 366, 367 (Miss.Ct.App.1998). Consideration is the cause, motive, price, or impelling influence which induces a contracting party to enter into a contract. Black's Law Dictionary 306 (6th ed.1990). Some right, interest, profit or benefit must accrue to one party, or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility must be given, suffered or undertaken by the other party. *Id.* Broome Gas acknowledges the enforceability of the May 12, 2006, addendum to the asset purchase agreement. Broome Gas stated plainly it was conveying its interest in Rutland's covenant not to compete for the consideration and mutual agreements set forth in the asset purchase agreement. The addendum is a valid part of the contract, and its date of execution is immaterial. Therefore, Herring Gas is entitled to protections contained within the covenant not to compete.

In any event, Rutland was not a party to the contract between Broome Gas and Herring Gas, and a basic tenet of contract law dictates that Rutland does not have standing to claim there was a lack of consideration for the assignment of his covenant not to compete. "The original debtor may not raise the defense that an assignment was made without consideration when sued by the assignee; the assignee may generally recover in an action against the original debtor or obligor, even though there was no consideration for the transfer between the assignor and the assignee. Although consideration is necessary as between an assignor and an assignee, as between an assignee who has acquired

legal title to the chose and the obligee in the chose, consideration is unnecessary."

6 Am. Jur. 2d Assignments § 130. (emphasis added) If Broome Gas were to challenge the sufficiency of the consideration for the assignment of Rutland's covenant not to compete — which they emphatically are not — then Herring Gas would have to show it delivered adequate consideration for the assignment. Given Rutland's lack of standing to challenge the sufficiency of consideration, the supposed lack of same is not relevant.

This principal was demonstrated in 527-9 Lenox Ave. Realty Corp. v. Ninth Street Associates, where a mortgagor filed a counterclaim against the mortgagee. 200 A.D.2d 531, 532 (N.Y.A.D. 1994). Among other things, the mortgagor claimed the contract sued upon failed for lack of consideration. *Id.* However, the court held that as the defendants were not parties to the underlying contract, they had no standing to raise the issue of lack of consideration, and the counterclaim was dismissed. *Id.* (see also *Davis v. Blige*, 419 F.Supp.2d 493, 501 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); *Barker v. Danner*, 903 S.W.2d 950 (Mo.App. W.D. 1995) (the obligor under a contract lacked standing to challenge the presence of consideration in an assignment; the obligor was not prejudiced by the presence or absence of consideration, as long as it was not obligated to perform for more than one party). Similarly, the court in *Brooks v. Land Drilling Co.*, found that as they were not "party to the contract, plaintiffs have no standing to contest the adequacy of consideration ..." 564 F.Supp. 1518, 1521 FN 1 (D.C. Colo. 1983).

In order for Rutland to be able to object to the assignment based upon a lack of consideration, he must be a third party beneficiary of the asset purchase agreement. "In order for a third person beneficiary to have a cause of action, the contracts between the

original parties must have been entered into for his benefit, or at least such benefit must be the direct result of the performance within the contemplation of the parties as shown by its terms. There must have been a legal obligation or duty on the part of the promisee to such third person beneficiary. This obligation must have a legal duty which connects the beneficiary with the contract. In other words, the right (of action) of the third party beneficiary to maintain an action on the contract must spring from the terms of the contract itself." Doe v. Wright Sec. Services, Inc., 950 So.2d 1076, 1080 (Miss. 2007) (citation omitted). It is obvious Rutland is not a third party beneficiary. While the agreement does acknowledge that Broome Gas's "current employees provide the buyer incentive to close this purchase ... ", the contract specifically states under the Employees of the Sellers section "[t]he Buyer and Sellers agree that this Asset Purchase Agreement does not create any contract of employment ..." In other words, there is no direct benefit to Rutland under the sales agreement between Herring Gas and Broome Gas. Herring Gas had no legal obligation or duty as a result of the agreement. In fact, the agreement goes out of its way to specifically state no such obligation exists. It is clear Rutland was not a third party beneficiary of the contract and that he is not entitled to complain there was insufficient consideration for the assignment of his covenant not to compete.

IV. Whether a Covenant Not to Compete Can Be Enforced by a Subsequent Purchaser

The crux of the trial court's decision was that, as a matter of law, a purchaser of a business entity cannot enforce a covenant not to compete entered into by the purchased entity and its employee that would otherwise be a valid. (R. at 162). Herring Gas respectfully suggests the trial court erred in making this determination. A covenant not to compete is valid unless the terms of the agreement are unreasonable. *Frierson v.*

Sheppard Building Supply Co., 247 Miss. 157, 172, 154 So.2d 151 (1963).

The trial court declined to enforce the covenant not to compete because it held the agreement to be a personal contract and therefore not transferrable. (R. at 160-62). Mississippi case law, however, contradicts this ruling. "A covenant not to compete will be given general application unless, by its own terms, it specifically expresses an intent that it be a personal covenant flowing only to the original obligee." *Cooper v. Gidden*, 515 So.2d 900, 904 (Miss. 1987) (emphasis added) (see also *Herring Gas v. Whiddon*, 616 So.2d 892 (Miss. 1993)). Restated, the Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly established covenants not to compete are *not* personal contracts and may only be considered so if there is specific language creating a personal covenant within the contract itself. There is no language within the employment agreement making the non-solicitation and non-competition provisions personal covenants. The general rule is rights under a contract may be assigned. *South Mississippi Planning and Development District v. Alfa General Insurance, Corp.*, 790 So.2d 818, 821 (Miss. 2001).

The instant circumstances give this Court an opportunity to affirm the value of small businesses which depend upon route salesman. The majority of the value of Broome Gas and similar companies derives from its customer list and relationship with those customers. By virtue of his employment by Broome Gas, Rutland became the face of his employer and the personification of Broome Gas's relationship with its customers. Because of this, Mississippi law allows Broome and similar businesses to protect their assets by enforcing covenants not to compete. See *Redd Pest Control Company, Inc. v. Foster*, 761 So.2d 967, 973 (Miss. 2000). If businesses depending on route salesmen are not permitted to

convey their interest in these valid, enforceable contracts, the value of these businesses would be dramatically reduced. Rutland suggests Herring Gas should have contacted him prior to its purchase of Broome Gas and sought his approval for the sale. In other words. Rutland suggests a deal worth well in excess of \$1,000,000.00 (and all other deals involving similar businesses which may involve far more money and many more employees) depends upon the acquiescence of a single employee who has no ownership stake in the business. It does not seem to be sound public policy to allow an person with no ownership interest to cancel multi-million dollar transactions – or to allow such a person to shake down the parties conducting the transaction in order to get his approval. Without an assignable covenant not to compete, Broome Gas is worth no more than its physical asset. As made clear by Foster, the principal asset of these types of businesses is its relationships with its customers, and that rationale is used to uphold covenants not to compete despite the general disfavor with which these restrictive covenants are usually viewed. This same rationale serves to protect the assets of Broome Gas in the instant case; if it cannot convey its principal asset – its relationship with its customers – it approaches worthlessness.

A. Mississippi

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