#### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE # 2007-TS-01554

HERRING GAS COMPANY, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

PINE BELT GAS, INC., LLOYD BROOM, JASON STRINGER, STEVEN STRINGER AND JIMMY RUTLAND

**APPELLEES** 

On Appeal from
The Chancery Court of Marion County
Cause No. 2006-0336-G-W

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

David M. Ott, MSB #
Kris A. Powell, MSB
BRYAN NELSON P.A.
Post Office Box 18109
Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39404-8109
(601) 261-4100

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE # 2007-TS-01554

HERRING GAS COMPANY, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

PINE BELT GAS, INC., LLOYD BROOM, JASON STRINGER, STEVEN STRINGER AND JIMMY RUTLAND

APPELLEES

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

### 8. Kentucky

Next, out of Kentucky, Herring Gas cites *Gardner Denver Drum, LLC v. Goodier*, 2006 WL 1005161 (W.D.Ky. 2006). However, in that case the business was not sold, but its parent company

was acquired by the plaintiff company. *Id.* at 1. Therefore, the identities of the parties to the covenant had not changed, so the covenant was being enforced by the original company that entered into the contract, not a stranger to the contract, as Herring Gas is in the instant case.

## 9. Michigan

Herring Gas next cites *Virchow Krause & Co. v. Schmidt*, 2006 WL 1751835 (Mich. App. 2006). Herring Gas is incorrect about the purchase contract not assigning rights. In *Virchow*, the employee signed a non-compete agreement with her employer, Nemes. Two months after the employee resigned, Nemes entered into a Contribution and Partner Admission Agreement (CPAA) with Virchow. The CPAA required Nemes to distribute its assets amongst it shareholders, who would then be required to contribute them to Virchow. The CPAA also provided that Nemes itself would contribute to Virchow "other intangible assets including client information and rights under employment relationships with Nemes' employees." *Id.* at 1. In the instant case, however, no such express delegation of rights was made, either in the employment contract or in the asset purchase agreement.

#### 10. Florida

Next, Plaintiff cites cases out of Florida. However, three of the four cases to which Herring Gas appeals from Florida occurred prior to 1996, when Florida dealt with the assignability of covenants not to compete statutorily. *See* Fla. Stat. Ann. § 542.335 (West 2002). The Florida rule disallows assignment without getting express permission to do so.<sup>6</sup> See *Marx v. Clear Channel* 

<sup>(</sup>f)The court shall not refuse enforcement of a restrictive covenant on the ground that the person seeking enforcement is a third-party beneficiary of such contract or is an assignee or successor to a party to such contract, provided:

<sup>1.</sup>In the case of a third-party beneficiary, the restrictive covenant expressly identified the person as a third-party beneficiary of the contract and expressly stated that the restrictive covenant

Broad., Inc., 887 So. 2d 405 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2004) (noting that "non-competition agreements can be enforced by assignees, but only if the agreement expressly so provides."). Therefore, since 1996, Florida allows for assignment only when "expressly authorized." The other Florida case to which Herring Gas looks, Allegiance Healthcare Corp. v. Coleman, 232 F. Supp. 2d 1329 (S.D. Fla. 2002), does not involve a change in the employer company's identity; it involves a mere stock purchase.

#### 11. Tenth Circuit

Herring Gas next moves back into federal court, citing *Equifax Services, Inc. v. Hitz*, 905 F.2d 1355 (10th Cir. 1990). This case falls on the same sword as *Allegiance Healthcare* above, in that it involves a stock purchase and a subsequent merger. There was no similar transition of stock or merger in the instant case.

### 12. Missouri

The first case Herring Gas cites from Missouri does not involve a covenant not to compete by an employee but by a seller of a business. In *Schucks Twenty-Five, Inc. v. Bettendorf*, 595 S.W.2d 279 (Mo. App. 1979), the seller of a grocery store agreed not to compete with the purchaser, who then resold the store to a third party. The third party sought to enforce the non-compete clause against the original seller. Since all three parties were on equal footing regarding the sale of the business, the court held that the covenant was assignable. *Id.* at 282. Thus, the case is distinguishable from the instant proceedings involving employer and employee. Next, Herring Gas looks to *Alexander & Alexander, Inc. v. Koelz*, 722 S.W.2d 311 (Mo. App. E.D. 1986). However,

was intended for the benefit of such person.

<sup>2.</sup>In the case of an assignee or successor, the restrictive covenant expressly authorized enforcement by a party's assignee or successor. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 542.335 (West 2002).

in that case the employer, a wholly owned subsidiary, did not sell the business but simply merged into its parent company. The employee had already been working for the parent company. In the instant case, however, Mr. Rutland entered into a covenant not to compete with Broome Gas, which was not a subsidiary of Herring Gas. Further, there was no merger in the instant case but a mere partial asset purchase. Mr. Rutland has no contractual obligations to Herring Gas.

### 13. Iowa

Herring Gas would also have this Court look to Iowa for guidance, but its reliance on these cases is similarly misplaced. In *Sickles v. Lauman*, 169 N.W. 670 (Iowa 1918), the covenant not to compete was executed between a seller and a purchaser; no employees were involved. Then the purchaser resold the business to a third party who enforced the covenant against the original seller. Just like in *Schucks Twenty-Five* above, all parties had equal bargaining power and were equally sophisticated. However, in the instant case the transaction between Broome Gas and Herring Gas should have no bearing on Mr. Rutland's employment contract since Herring Gas was not a party to that agreement. Iowa did enforce a non-compete covenant against an employee in *Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc. v. Burnett*, 146 N.W.2d 320 (Iowa 1966), however, as Herring Gas admits, the employment contract in that case expressly mentions rights of "successors and assigns." *Id.* at 327. However, in the present case, there is no such mention of the rights of "successors and assigns" in Rutland's employment contract.

#### 14. New York

Next, Herring Gas travels to New York. It cites many New York cases holding that covenants not to compete entered into by employees are assets of the employer which are assignable, perhaps without the employee's permission. See, Eisner Computer Solutions, LLC v. Gluckstern, 293 A.D.2d 289 (N.Y. 202); Norman Ellis Corp. v. Lippus, 176 N.Y.S.2d 5 (N.Y. 1955); Premier

Laundry v. Klein, 73 N.Y.S.2d 60 (N.Y. 1947). It is apparent from these New York authorities that covenants not to compete in employment contracts are assignable to purchasers of the company . . . in New York. However, it is fair to say that perhaps the state of New York has a stronger policy concern in protecting businesses' and corporations' interests in their assets and operations rather than protecting workers' interests in earning a livelihood. This Court should reject the invitation to fllow New York law which would ignore the rights of individual employees.

Herring Gas equates these New York holdings to the holding of the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Cooper v. Gidden*, 515 So. 2d 900 (Miss. 1987). However, as mentioned above, the covenant at issue in *Cooper* was between a seller and a purchaser of a business, who sold the business to a third party; it did not involve employees. An employee's covenant not to compete was enforced in *Special Products Mfg., Inc. v. Douglass*, 159 A.D.2d 847 (N.Y. 1990). However, in that case, the purchasing company bought all assets and contract rights from the seller. *Id.* at 847. In the present case, Herring Gas and Broome Gas' asset purchase agreement only included certain specific assets; employee contract rights and obligations of Broome's employees, like Mr. Rutland, were excluded. (R. at 32).

### 15. New Jersey

Herring Gas looks next to New Jersey to bolster its position. First, Herring Gas relies on *J.H. Renarde, Inc. v. Sims*, 711 A.2d 410 (N.J. 1998), for the proposition that covenants not to compete are freely assignable. The court in *Renarde* relied on an earlier New Jersey case, *A. Fink & Sons v. Goldberg*, 139 A. 408 (N.J. 1927), to decide that covenants not to compete are assignable. These cases also seem powerful when taken out of context. However, in *Fink*, the successor company was "a New Jersey corporation of the same name and composed of practically the same stockholders and officers." *Id.* at 409. Therefore, the covenant not to compete was, for all intents and purposes,

enforced by the same entity who had signed it. There is no such relationship in the present case. Further, in *Renarde*, the court stated that "it is preferable to assume that when a business is sold, the purchaser and the employee expect, without new negotiations between them, that the purchaser will honor the employment contract and that the employees, who choose to remain, will honor the promises made to the former employer." *Renarde*, 711 A.2d at 414. In the instant case, however, the asset purchase agreement between Broome Gas and Herring Gas expressly disallows any such assumptions, stating that the agreement "does not create any contract of employment or expectation of continued employment... with regard to all employees of [Broome Gas]." (R. at 32).

### 16. Texas

Herring Gas cites *Thames v. Rotary Eng'g Co.*, 315 S.W.2d 589 (Tex. Civ. App. 1958), but in that case, the employer partnership did not sell but dissolved and reformed as a corporation. The employee who signed the covenant not to compete worked for the company before and after the incorporation of the partnership, which for all practical purposes was the same entity. The covenant not to compete in *Wells v. Powers*, 354 S.W.2d 651 (Tex. Civ. App. 1962) was executed between a seller and a purchaser; no employees were involved. Further, in *Williams v. Powell Elec. Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 508 S.W.2d 665 (Tex. Civ. App. 1974), the owner of the employer subsidiary sold out to its parent company, making the employer company a wholly-owned subsidiary. Then the original owner started a new competing business. The covenant not to compete was between the original owner/seller and the parent company. There is no similar restructuring or "wholly-owned subsidiary" in the present proceeding. Herring Gas was at all times a stranger to Mr. Rutland's employment contract.

#### 17. Kansas

The covenant not to compete at issue in Safelite Glass Corp. v. Fuller, 807 P.2d 677 (Kan.

App. 1991), was executed between the seller and the purchaser of a business. Once again no employees were involved. The specific situation in the instant case differs from that situation, in that Rutland was an employee of the seller, Broome Gas, with whom he entered into the covenant; he had no contractual relationship with Herring Gas, the purchaser.

## 18. Georgia

In *Nat'l Linen Service Corp. v. Clower*, 175 S.E. 460 (Ga. 1934), the employment contract at issue, which included a covenant not to compete, expressly provided that "[t]he provisions of this contract shall extend to the successors and assigns of the [employer]." *Id.* at 462. In the instant case, no such provision was included in Rutland's employment contract. Further, in *Gill v. Poe & Brown of Georgia, Inc.*, 524 S.E.2d 328 (Ga. App. 1999), "all non-solicitation agreements and covenants not to compete signed by employees were assigned to [the purchaser]." *Id.* at 330. In the instant case before this Court, no such assignment was included in the asset purchase agreement between Broome Gas and Herring Gas.

## 19. Maryland

Herring Gas's authorities out of Maryland are similarly misplaced. There was no sale of the employer business in *Nat'l Instrument, LLC v. Brathwaite*, 2006 WL 2405831 (Md. Cir. Ct. 2006). The employer company simply transitioned from an incorporated "Company, Inc." into a limited liability corporation, or "LLC." It had the same owners, CEOs, and employees, so the covenant was enforceable because the company was essentially the same entity. Thus, the court in *Brathwaite* held the assignment was valid. This is a very different situation from the instant case, where no such transition occurred. Further, the court in *Brathwaite*, perhaps sensing the delicate situation involved in restricting a person's ability to earn a livelihood, qualified its rule. It held that if the employee's duties and obligations changed materially by the company's transition, the covenant not to compete

would have been unenforceable despite the mere restructuring. Id. at 4.

### 20. Miscellaneous Jurisdictions

Herring Gas next suggests that many other jurisdictions permit the assignment of restrictive covenants, but these cases suffer from many of the same infirmities as those above. See e.g., Mail-Well Envelope Co. v. C.P. Saley, 497 P.2d 364 (Or. 1972) (involving no sale of the business or assets; employee simply quits and subsequently competes while the covenant was expressly assignable); compare Pino v. Spanish Broad. Sys. of Fla., Inc., 564 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1990) (holding, before Florida dealt with restrictive covenants statutorily, covenant enforceable since purchase agreement expressly assigns it), and Nenow v. L.C. Cassiday & Son of Florida, Inc., 141 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 1962) (same). See also, La. Office Systems, Inc. v. Boudreaux, 298 So. 2d 341 (La. 1974) (holding covenants enforceable where employer sold "all assets" to buyer who paid additional consideration to enforce employees' covenants); Bradford & Carson v. Montgomery Furniture Co., 92 S.W. 1104 (Tenn. 1906) (holding covenant included in sale of company enforceable, but involving no employees' covenants); Seligman & Latz of Pittsburg v. Vernillo, 114 A.2d 672 (Pa. 1955) (involving transition of employer company from partnership to corporation with no change in corporate identity); Hexacomb Corp. v. GTW Enterprises, Inc., 875 F. Supp. 457 (N.D. Ill. 1993) (involving misappropriation of trade secrets); and Abalene Pest Control Serv., Inc. v. Hall, 220 A.2d 717 (Vt. 1966) (holding valid assignment where the employment contract expressly so provided, and the purchase agreement purported to transfer all assets in the company, expressly including contracts entered into by the seller containing covenants).

Mr. Rutland entered into a covenant not to compete with Broome Gas that was silent as to its assignability, Broome Gas sold certain specific assets of the company to a competitor, Herring Gas. The asset purchase agreement was also silent as to the assignment of any employees' restrictive

covenants, and it specifically excluded any employment obligations or agreements from the assets purchased by Herring. Herring Gas wants to enforce the original covenant against Mr. Rutland using an assignment that occurred almost a month after Broome Gas ended its gas business in Purvis.

Almost all of the cases relied on by Herring Gas have different facts. Some involve non-compete covenants between sellers and purchasers of a business, between employers and employees that were parties to the original agreement, or cases where the employer has made some corporate or business change that really made no difference as far as the employee that was restricted. The cases that come close to what Herring Gas urges are out of the New York courts. The overwhelming weight of authority is against the position of Herring Gas.

## VI. Mr. Rutland's Standing

Herring Gas asserts that Mr. Rutland lacks standing to contest the validity of the consideration related to the purported assignment of the non-compete covenant at issue herein. Appellant's Brief at 8. It is nonsensical, that after Herring Gas has filed suit against Mr. Rutland alleging breach of the agreement, that Herring Gas would submit to this court that Mr. Rutland lacks standing to contest the validity and enforceability of the very contract upon which Herring Gas brings its action. The elements of a breach of contract are: (1) the existence of a valid and binding contract; (2) that the defendant has broken, or breached it; and (3) that the plaintiff has been thereby damaged monetarily. Favre Property Management, LLC v. Cinque Bambini, 863 So. 2d 1037, 1044 (Miss.App.,2004) (citing Warwick v. Matheney, 603 So. 2d 330, 336 (Miss.1992)). Mr. Rutland has every right to attack the validity and enforceability of the alleged contract being charged against him, including the defenses of contractual prerequisites and other contractual formalities such as consideration. Whether his contract with Broome was validly assigned goes to the heart of the issue of whether it is capable of being enforced against him. Further, Mr. Rutland has the right to dispute

the elements of Herring Gas's breach of contract claim. To deprive Mr. Rutland of such rights would violate Rultand's due process rights. Other Court's have clearly held when an employment contract is asserted against an individual, the individual has standing to challenge the validity of the contracts. For instance, the Alabama Supreme Court has said:

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